

Clinical Neurology and Neurosurgery

Clinical Neurology and Neurosurgery 108 (2006) 433-439

www.elsevier.com/locate/clineuro

Review

Post-traumatic epilepsy: An overview

Amit Agrawal^{a,*}, Jake Timothy^b, Lekha Pandit^c, Murali Manju^a

^a Department of Neurosurgery, K.S. Hegde Medical Academy, Deralakatte, 575018 Mangalore, Karnataka, India ^b Department of Neurosurgery, Leeds General Infirmary, Leeds, UK

^c Department of Neurology, K.S. Hegde Medical Academy, Deralakatte, 575018 Mangalore, Karnataka, India

Received 30 March 2005; received in revised form 20 August 2005; accepted 4 September 2005

Abstract

Post-traumatic epilepsy (PTE) is a recurrent seizure disorder secondary to brain injury following head trauma. PTE is not a homogeneous condition and can appear several years after the head injury. The mechanism by which trauma to the brain tissue leads to recurrent seizures is unknown. Cortical lesions seem important in the genesis of the epileptic activity, and early seizures are likely to have a different pathogenesis than late seizures. Anti-epileptic drugs available for treatment are phenytoin, sodium valproate, and carbamazepine. Newer anti-epileptics are helpful, particularly in patients with associated post-traumatic stress disorders; however, no randomized controlled studies are available to prove that one of these drugs is better than the other. Current evidence is that the treatment of early post-traumatic seizures does not influence the incidence of post-traumatic epilepsy. Routine preventive anticonvulsants are not indicated for patients with head injuries, and treatment in the acute phase does not reduce death or disability rates.

© 2005 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Head injury; Trauma; Seizures; Post-traumatic seizures; Post-traumatic epilepsy

Contents

l. Introdu		uction	434
	1.1.	Epidemiology	434
	1.2.	Clinical types	434
	1.3.	Risk factors	434
	1.4.	Contusions	434
	1.5.	Non-contusional hematomas	434
	1.6.	Time to development of late post-traumatic seizure	434
	1.7.	Severity of injury	435
	1.8.	Civilian injuries versus war injuries	435
	1.9.	Neurosurgical intervention	435
	1.10.	Pathophysiology	435
	1.11.	Investigations	436
	1.12.	Serum prolactin	436
	1.13.	Electroencephalogram (EEG)	436
	1.14.	Role of imaging	436
	1.15.	Management	436
	1.16.	Non-prophylactic treatment	436
	1.17.	Prophylactic anticonvulsant	437

* Corresponding author. Tel.: +91 824 2204472; fax: +91 824 2204016. *E-mail address:* dramit_in@yahoo.com (A. Agrawal).

^{0303-8467/\$ -} see front matter © 2005 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.clineuro.2005.09.001

	1.18.	Side effects	437
	1.19.	Surgical considerations	437
	1.20.	Neuropsychological consequences	437
2.	Conclusion.		
	References		438

1. Introduction

Post-traumatic epilepsy (PTE) is defined as a recurrent seizure disorder due to injury to the brain following trauma [1]. The disorder is classified as immediate seizures (<24 h after injury), early seizures (<1 week after injury) and late seizures (>8 days after injury) [2]. In this article, we review the salient features of post-traumatic epilepsy, its pathophysiology, and its management.

1.1. Epidemiology

Post-traumatic epilepsy is an established consequence of head injury, and the incidence of PTE is highest among young adults as they are more prone to head injury [3,4]. PTE accounts for 20% of symptomatic epilepsy in the general population and 5% of all epilepsy patients referred to specialized epilepsy centers [4-6]. In military series, the incidence of PTE is much higher (up to 50%), as these studies also include many patients with penetrating head injuries [7]. The incidence of immediate seizures is 1-4%, early seizures 4-25%, and late post-traumatic seizures 9-42% in civilian head injuries [3,7–9]. Approximately, 80% of individuals with PTE experience their first seizure within the first 12 months post-injury and more than 90% by the end of the second year [10]. In penetrating brain injuries, the risk of PTE is approximately 50% (patients followed up for 15 years) [3]. The incidence of subclinical seizure activity is much higher than that of overt seizures and is even higher in penetrating injuries than in non-penetrating injuries [11]. In one series, the reported incidence of combined non-convulsive seizures and overt seizures was 22%; of these, the incidence of nonconvulsive seizures was as high as 52% [12].

1.2. Clinical types

In up to two-thirds of patients, late post-traumatic seizures are generalized or focal, with secondary generalization, and often both seizure types may coexist [13,14]. Although uncommon, mesial temporal lobe epilepsy may result from traumatic brain injury and occurs mainly in young children (age < 5 years), while neocortical epilepsy occurs later in life [15]. This may be because of the vulnerability of the developing brain to trauma, resulting in hippocampal sclerosis [16].

1.3. Risk factors

Much less is known about the characteristics of traumatic brain injury (TBI), which is associated with an increased risk of seizures; the magnitude and duration of the increase is also unclear [3,4]. However, certain risk factors have been consistently identified, placing TBI patients at significant risk of developing post-traumatic epilepsy. These risk factors include duration of loss of consciousness, missile injuries, intracerebral hemorrhage, diffuse cerebral contusions, prolonged (3 days) post-traumatic amnesia, acute subdural hematoma (SDH) with surgical evacuation, early post-traumatic seizure, and depressed skull fracture [2,8,14,17,18]. Brain contusions and subdural hematomas are the strongest risk factors for late seizures, and this increased risk persists for up to 20 years [3].

1.4. Contusions

The amount of focal tissue destruction is the most important factor in predicting the development of early and late post-traumatic seizure [14,19]. Injured neurons in the cerebral cortex are believed to be the origin of seizure activity. This can be explained by the fact that individuals with multiple or bilateral contusions have more injured cortical neurons, increasing the number of potential foci of seizure activity. Also, the presence of multiple contusions or a large midline shift indicates that neurons between the grossly contused areas are injured, and thus, more likely to originate or propagate a seizure. Although TBI has a predilection for the frontal and temporal lobes, parietal lobe involvement, detected by CT scan, may be another indicator of additional pathology that lowers the overall seizure threshold [14].

1.5. Non-contusional hematomas

While there is an association of peritraumatic hemorrhage (i.e., contusion, acute SDH) with delayed PTE, many lesions, such as subarachnoid or intraventricular hemorrhages, extradural hematomas (EDHs) not requiring evacuation and punctate hemorrhages do not seem to put individuals at much greater risk for late PTE than individuals without these lesions. This provides some assurance that the risk with these injuries is relatively low, even if greater than in the general population without TBI [14,20].

1.6. Time to development of late post-traumatic seizure

A high proportion of seizures occurring during the first month after TBI are due to acute brain swelling, perioperative events both from cerebral manipulation or stress from general anesthesia, and metabolic factors [14]. The occurrence of the vast majority (80%) of cases of late PTE is in the first year post-injury and over 90% by 18 months postinjury, provides evidence that this is the period of highest risk. Up to 15–20% of patients may have their first seizure after 2 years post-injury [7,10,14,21]. Although a seizure during the first week after injury (early post-traumatic epilepsy) is associated with a higher incidence of late PTE (after the first week post-injury), a late post-traumatic seizure is correlated with an even higher rate of recurrence [3,13,21].

1.7. Severity of injury

Although early seizures and possibly a low Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS) score on admission (<8) may be associated with an increased risk of developing late epilepsy, injury severity, as measured by initial GCS score alone, is not sufficient to predict late post-traumatic seizure risk, i.e., those individuals with the most severe injuries, as evaluated by GCS scores, may not survive, and those with GCS scores of 3–8 who do survive have no more cortical injury leading to seizure activity than individuals with GCS scores of 9–12 [14,21]. The relative risk of seizures is 1.5 after mild injuries (loss of consciousness or amnesia less than 30 min), but with no increase after 5 years; 2.9 after moderate injuries (loss of consciousness from 30 min to 1 day or a skull fracture); 17.2 after severe injuries (loss of consciousness of more than 1 day, SDH, or brain contusion) [3,4].

1.8. Civilian injuries versus war injuries

The estimated relative risk of seizures after penetrating war injuries is very high (up to 53%), and 27% of patients may have persistent epilepsy up to 15 years post-injury as compared with the risk in the general population [3,7]. The lower rates of PTE in civilians who suffered missile wounds may relate to differences in fragment caliber and velocity and to the shorter evacuation time to neurosurgical centers [7,22]. Wounds of survivors of war injuries may contain bone and iron-containing metal fragments, thought to be more epileptogenic than lead fragments from bullets. Civilian injuries with bone fragments alone do not greatly increase the risk for late post-traumatic seizure [7,14,22].

1.9. Neurosurgical intervention

Although individuals with SDHs alone do not have higher seizure risk, those undergoing surgery for such have very high rates of late post-traumatic seizure. Patients with multiple intracranial surgeries also have very high rates of late PTE. This can be explained by the fact that, although clinical deterioration is always the most pressing indication for surgical intervention, the strongest radiographic indication is a significant intracranial shift. A high degree of shift may be caused by a very large hematoma or additional cortical and subcortical tissue swelling from sudden deceleration forces. This sudden negative pressure caused by rapid deceleration results in both tearing of cortical bridging veins and parenchymal injury, adding to the degree of shift. Surgical treatment in these patients often involves a large craniectomy and enlargement of the size of the intradural compartment with a patch graft, both of which allow the brain to swell outside of the cranium. The obvious conclusion is that these individuals have quantitatively more brain injury, either multifocal or larger individual foci, which may become epileptogenic over time. The tissue damage seen in individuals surviving EDH is routinely less than in acute SDH, potentially explaining the relatively lower risk for late PTE with extradural hematoma [14].

1.10. Pathophysiology

Traumatic brain injury results in potentially epileptogenic brain damage through several mechanisms, which often coexist within a single patient [19]. Immediate and early seizures are likely to have a different pathogenesis than late seizures, and are considered to be direct reactions to brain damage [6,23]. Late seizures are thought to be due to damage to the cortex by free radicals, generated following iron deposition from extravasated blood, and increased excitotoxicity due to accumulation of glutamate [24].

Pathophysiology also varies according to the type of injury, as closed head injuries produce diffuse axonal injury with shearing of axons, diffuse edema, and ischemia leading to the release of excitatory amino acids, cytokines, bioactive lipids, and other toxic mediators causing secondary cellular damage [25]. Penetrating brain injury produces a cicatrix in the cortex and is associated with an increased risk of PTE of approximately 50% [7]. Non-penetrating head injuries, including focal contusions and intracranial hemorrhages, are associated with a risk of PTE of up to 30%. In this setting, the mechanism of epileptogenesis may be partly related to the toxic effects of hemoglobin breakdown products on neuronal function [26].

Following head injury or hemorrhagic cortical infarction, there is deposition of ferrous compounds into neural tissue. This is followed by a Haber-Weiss iron-catalyzed reaction that results in the hyperproduction of hydroxyl radicals, triggering subsequent formation of peroxidative agents, peroxidation of phospholipid membranes, and disruption of the cell wall leading to cell death [27]. The induction of an epileptic focus by iron deposition is also related to decreased nitric oxide synthase activity [28]. These possible pathophysiological mechanisms of PTE have been studied using an animal model of PTE, originally developed by Willmore et al. in which epileptic seizures in the rat brain were induced by iron injection [20,29]. Iron liberated from hemoglobin, and hemoglobin itself, are associated with the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and reactive nitrogen species (RNS), both of which have been demonstrated to be involved in the mechanism of seizures induced by iron ions in the rat brain [20,29]. Excessive activation of excitatory amino acid neurotransmitter receptors during seizures is known to generate NO and ROS, including $O_2^{\bullet-}$, H_2O_2 , and $^{\bullet}OH$,

followed by accelerated production of neurotoxic guanidino compounds, causing a vicious circle of reactions [30,31]. ROS, especially •OH, are responsible for the induction of peroxidation of unsaturated fatty acids that are components of neuronal membranes. Such reactions may be followed by excitatory and inhibitory neurotransmitter changes, especially the increased release of excitatory amino acids, such as aspartic acid, and the decreased release of inhibitory amino acids, such as γ -aminobutyric acid [32–35]. This accelerated release of excitatory amino acids can trigger excitotoxicity at the NMDA receptors in acute seizures and may be followed by the formation of a chronic epileptogenic focus [32,33].

1.11. Investigations

Investigation of a seizure in a patient after a recent head injury should focus on assessing whether the seizure was caused by a change in a biochemical parameter, such as development of hyponatremia or an intracranial bleed. In a clinically stable patient whose serum electrolytes are within the normal range and whose neurologic examination is the same as before the seizure, further lab studies are not needed. In a patient presenting some time after injury, the usual investigations that are applicable for the first epileptic seizure should be performed. Admission may be needed for status epilepticus or to carry out videotelemetry to assist in the diagnosis. The opinion of a neurologist will be helpful to establish/confirm the diagnosis. Neuropsychological assessment is necessary to document the patient's baseline functioning before starting anti-epileptic medication, and it will be a part of the workup if the patient is considered for surgery.

1.12. Serum prolactin

Frequently increased levels of serum prolactin (SPRL) are observed immediately after generalized and complex partial seizures. Presumably, hormone release is caused by the propagation of epileptic activity, usually from the temporal lobe to the hypothalamic pituitary axis. Numerous reports have demonstrated that measurement of the post-ictal SPRL level can differentiate between pseudoseizures and seizures [36,37]. However, others have reported that estimation of SPRL is not a useful method for the differentiation of psychogenic non-epileptic from true epileptic seizures [38,39]. Nonetheless, this is still more of a subject of research rather than a well-recognized standard test [39,40].

1.13. Electroencephalogram (EEG)

EEG is useful for focus localizations and prognostication of severity, but not for predicting the likelihood of PTE developing in a given patient [41]. An additional complicating factor may be the difficulty in successfully recording and interpreting EEGs in patients who may be agitated and confused following their injury [21]. However, EEG may be helpful in predicting relapse before anticonvulsant medication is withdrawn [42].

1.14. Role of imaging

Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) of the brain is the study of choice and many clinicians choose to perform it in all patients with PTE. When MRI is not available and also in emergency situations, CT scan of the head will allow visualization of underlying pathology that may need urgent intervention (for example, an intracranial hematoma or depressed fracture). It has been demonstrated that the presence of focal hemorrhagic brain damage on CT scan is one of the most powerful factors predicting early and late epilepsy [19]. MRI is superior to CT scan in patients with late PTE, and the possible epileptogenic role of hemosiderin has been evaluated by brain MRI [43]. Demonstration of hemosiderin deposits on T_2^* -weighted imaging, with formation of the gliotic scar around the hemosiderin, is a significant predictive factor for seizure occurrence [44]. MRI is also more sensitive for the detection of traumatic white-matter abnormalities, including diffuse axonal injury, when compared with CT [45].

1.15. Management

Seizure activity in the early post-traumatic period after head injury may cause secondary brain damage as a result of increased metabolic demands, raised intracranial pressure, and excess neurotransmitter release. It is recommended that early PTE be treated promptly, as seizure activity will further damage the already compromised brain [46]. Although concern about the adverse effects of early seizure activity has been the primary therapeutic rationale for the prophylactic use of anti-epileptic drugs in the management of acute traumatic head injury, recent pathophysiological studies have shown that some anti-epileptic drugs may also have neuroprotective effects. Animal models have indicated that phenytoin reduces neuronal damage in hypoxia, and that carbamazepine and valproate may also have neuroprotective effects [47,48]. The neuroprotective effect of phenytoin may be mediated by a voltage-dependent blockade of sodium channels [49,50]. Anti-epileptic drugs, by contrast, have unusually narrow therapeutic margins and well-documented toxicity, even in neurologically stable patients [49,50].

1.16. Non-prophylactic treatment

Anti-epileptic drugs available for treatment are phenytoin, sodium valproate, carbamazepine, and phenobarbital. In most cases, administering the medication via the intravenous (IV) route is desirable, as the patient is still in the recovery stage from the head injury. Intravenous phenytoin and sodium valproate are drugs of choice and are usually effective in stopping seizures [46,51,52]. However, no randomized controlled studies are available to prove that one of these drugs is better than the other [46,51,52]. New compounds, such as free radical scavengers and antiperoxidents, show encouraging results, but their use is still experimental and clinical application is limited. Newer anti-epileptics (topiramate, gabapentin, and lamotrigine) have been used successfully, particularly for patients with PTE associated with post-traumatic stress disorders [2,53–55].

1.17. Prophylactic anticonvulsant

In 1973, 60% of clinicians in the USA treated TBI patients prophylactically with anticonvulsants [56]. A recent survey of clinicians in 127 neurosurgical departments showed that 36% do not prophylactically treat head-injured patients, 12% prescribe prophylactic anticonvulsants for all head injury patients, and the remaining 52% decide based on the patient's particular risk factors [2]. Phenytoin and carbamazepine have been effective in preventing early PTE in high-risk patients following head injury; however, prophylactic use of phenytoin, carbamazepine, or phenobarbital is not recommended for preventing late post-traumatic seizures [8,51,52]. Phenytoin has the most evidence to support its use to reduce early post-traumatic seizures, but it should only be used for treating immediate and repeated tonic-clonic seizures occurring within the first 24-48 h. If treatment is given for only 1 week, the risk of acute idiosyncratic reactions will be small [49,50,57,58]. After the first week, routine use of seizure prophylaxis following head injury is not recommended, particularly for those individuals who have isolated lesions and whose cumulative risk is relatively low. However, patients with early PTE, dural-penetrating injuries, multiple contusions, and/or SDH requiring evacuation may need continuation of anticonvulsant medication beyond the first week post-injury [14,46,57,58]. Although anti-epileptics appear to decrease the rate of early seizures, there is no evidence that the prevention of early seizures affects mortality, morbidity, or the development of late PTE [49,50,57,58].

1.18. Side effects

It must be remembered that anti-epileptics are not benign drugs; for example, a high rate of side effects has been demonstrated in patients treated with phenytoin for 1 week post-injury. Potentially fatal reactions to this drug include intravenous site reactions [59], exfoliative dermatitis, [60] granulocytopenia, [61] transient hemiparesis, [12,62] permanent B-cell immunodeficiency [63], and fatal phenytoin hypersensitivity syndrome [49]. There have also been some Class II data to suggest that both phenytoin and carbamazepine have negative effects on cognition, particularly involving tasks with significant motor and speed components [64]. There is experimental evidence from animal research to suggest that patients treated with diazepam do not recover somatosensory evoked potentials [12].

1.19. Surgical considerations

Most of the time, TBI results in bilateral and multifocal injury leading to poorly localized, multifocal, and nonlesional extratemporal epilepsy that is less likely to benefit from surgery [15,65]. However, surgery is a very effective treatment for intractable frontal-lobe epilepsy secondary to encephalomalacias [66]. Patients are more likely to become seizure-free if they have a focal ictal beta discharge on their scalp EEG. Complete resection of the encephalomalacia and adjacent electrophysiologically abnormal tissues should be attempted for favorable outcome [66]. Compared to neocortical epilepsy, the surgical results are much better in post-traumatic mesial temporal sclerosis with focal lesion on extensive scalp and intracranial ictal EEG recordings, neuroimaging, and neuropsychologic evaluations [15,66]. Incomplete identification of the gliotic region is responsible for the more frequent failure of surgery in neocortical PTE than in temporal lobe epilepsy [65].

1.20. Neuropsychological consequences

In a prospective study of 210 patients, no significant difference in neuropsychological outcomes at 1 year was found between those head-injured patients who had PTE and those who did not [67]. However, at 5 years post-injury, recurrent seizures play a large role in the causes for readmission, along with psychiatric difficulties and general health maintenance [9]. In a prospective study of 490 patients having seizures, established epilepsy appeared to reduce functional and social outcome but had no effect on rehabilitation goals and reemployment [68]. Apart from the head injury, anti-epileptics may also impair performance on neuropsychological tests. The adverse effects of anti-epileptics include neurobehavioral effects and cognitive impairments. There is also some preliminary evidence to suggest that anticonvulsants may inhibit learning and brain plasticity, particularly in children, which may or may not be reversible [68-70]. These side effects become more prominent if treatment with anticonvulsants is extended beyond 1 week. However, there is little evidence available on pediatric head injuries and anticonvulsant management, as the available data suggest that their seizure profile and response to anticonvulsants is different than in adults [11].

2. Conclusion

A large percentage of PTE is preventable in the sense that the causative injuries are themselves preventable. Preventive strategies, such as the use of child seats and helmets when cycling are mandatory in developed countries, whereas in developing countries further awareness and education are needed. Patients with PTE need regular follow-up for review of medications, monitoring of drug side effects, examination of neurological status, and neuropsychological assessment for any cognitive dysfunction. Early PTE should be treated promptly. After the first week, routine use of seizure prophylaxis following head injury is not recommended, particularly in patients with isolated lesions and in whom cumulative risk is relatively low. Patients with occurrence of early post-traumatic seizure, dural-penetrating injuries, multiple contusions, and/or SDH requiring evacuation may need continuation of anticonvulsant medication beyond the first week post-injury.

References

- Wrightson P, Gronwall D. Post-traumatic epilepsy. In: Mild head injury. London: Oxford University Press; 1999. p. 72–5.
- [2] Iudice A, Murri L. Pharmacological prophylaxis of posttraumatic epilepsy. Drugs 2000;59:1091–9.
- [3] Annegers JF, Hauser WA, Coan SP, et al. A population-based study of seizures after traumatic brain injuries. N Engl J Med 1998;338:20–4.
- [4] Annegers JF, Coan SP. The risks of epilepsy after traumatic brain injury. Seizure 2000;9:453–7.
- [5] Jennett B. Trauma as a cause of epilepsy in childhood. Dev Med Child Neurol 1973;15:56–62.
- [6] Semah F, Picot M-C, Adam C, et al. Is the underlying cause of epilepsy a major prognostic factor for recurrence? Neurology 1998;51:1256–62.
- [7] Salazar AM, Jabbari B, Vance SC, Grafman J, Amin D, Dillon JD. Epilepsy after penetrating head injury. I. Clinical correlates: a report of the Vietnam Head Injury Study. Neurology 1985;35: 1406–14.
- [8] The Brain Trauma Foundation, The American Association of Neurological Surgeons, The Joint Section on Neurotrauma and Critical Care. Role of antiseizure prophylaxis following head injury. J Neurotrauma 2000;17:549–53.
- [9] Asikainen I, Kaste M, Sarna S. Early and late posttraumatic seizures in traumatic brain injury rehabilitation patients: brain injury factors causing late seizures and influence of seizures on long-term outcome. Epilepsia 1999;40:584–9.
- [10] Da Silva AM, Vaz AR, Ribeiro I, Melo AR, Nune B, Correia M. Controversies in post-traumatic epilepsy. Acta Neurochir Suppl 1990;50:48–51.
- [11] Sarah O. Review of the role of anticonvulsant prophylaxis following brain injury. J Clin Neurosci 2004;11:1–3.
- [12] Vespa PM, et al. Increased incidence and impact of non-convulsive and convulsive seizures after traumatic brain injury as detected by continuous electroencephalographic monitoring. J Neurosurg 1999;91:750–60.
- [13] Haltiner AM, Temkin NR, Dikmen SS. Risk of seizure recurrence after the first late posttraumatic seizure. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 1997;78:835–40.
- [14] Englander J, Bushnik T, Duong TT, Cifu DX, Zafonte R, Wright J, et al. Analyzing risk factors for late posttraumatic seizures: a prospective, multicenter investigation. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2003;84:365–73.
- [15] Diaz-Arrastia R, Agostini MA, et al. Neurophysiologic and neuroradiologic features of intractable epilepsy after traumatic brain injury in adults. Arch Neurol 2000;57:1611–6.
- [16] Mathern GW, Babb TL, Vickrey BG, Melendez M, Pretorius J. Traumatic compared to non-traumatic clinical-pathologic associations in temporal lobe epilepsy. Epilepsy Res 1994;19:129–39.
- [17] Jennett B. Epilepsy after non-missile head injuries. Chicago: William Heinemann Medical Books; 1975.
- [18] Yablon SA. Posttraumatic seizures. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 1993;74:983–1001.

- [19] D'Alessandro R, Tinuper P, Ferrara R, Cortelli P, Pazzaglia P, Sabattini L, et al. CT scan prediction of late post-traumatic epilepsy. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1982;45:1153–5.
- [20] Willmore LJ, Sypert GW, Munson JB. Recurrent seizures induced by cortical iron injection: a model of posttraumatic epilepsy. Ann Neurol 1978;4:329–36.
- [21] Appleton RE, Demellweek C. Post-traumatic epilepsy in children requiring inpatient rehabilitation following head injury. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2002;72:669–72.
- [22] Carey ME, Tutton RH, Strub R, Black FW, Tobey EA. The correlation between surgical and CT estimates of brain damage following missile wounds. J Neurosurg 1984;60:947–54.
- [23] Annegers JF, Grabow JD, Groover RV, Laws Jr ER, Elveback LR, Kurland LT. Seizures after head trauma: a population study. Neurology 1980;30:683–9.
- [24] Payan H, Toga M, Berard-Badier M. The pathology of post-traumatic epilepsies. Epilepsia 1970;11:81–94.
- [25] Graham DI, McIntosh TK. Neuropathology of brain injury. In: Evans RW, editor. Neurology and trauma. Philadelphia, Pa: WB Saunders Co.; 1996. p. 53–90.
- [26] Willmore LJ. Post-traumatic epilepsy: cellular mechanisms and implications for treatment. Epilepsia 1990;31:S67–73.
- [27] Rubin JJ, Willmore LJ. Prevention of iron induced epileptiform discharges in rats by treatment with antiperoxidants. Exp Neurol 1980;67:472–80.
- [28] Kabuto H, Yokoi I, Habu H, et al. Reduction in nitric oxide synthase activity with development of an epileptogenic focus induced by ferric chloride in the rat brain. Epilepsy Res 1996;25:65–8.
- [29] Mori A, Yokoi I, Noda Y, Willmore LJ. Natural antioxidants may prevent posttraumatic epilepsy: a proposal based on experimental animal studies. Acta Med Okayama 2004;58:111–8.
- [30] Lafon-Cazal M, Pietri S, Cilcasi M, Bockaert J. NMDA-dependent superoxide production and neurotoxicity. Nature 1993;364:535–7.
- [31] Lancelot E, Lecanu L, Revaud ML, Boulu RG, Plotkine M, Callebert J. Glutamate induces hydroxyl radical formation in vivo via activation of nitric oxide synthase in Sprague–Dawley rats. Neurosci Lett 1998;242:131–4.
- [32] Mori A, Hiramatsu M, Yokoi I. Posttraumatic epilepsy, free radicals and antioxidant therapy. In: Packer L, Prilipko L, Christen Y, editors. Free radical in the brain aging, neurological and mental disorders. Berlin: Springer-Verlag; 1992. p. 109–22.
- [33] Janjua NA, Mori A, Hiramatsu M. Increased aspartic acid release from the iron induced epileptogenic focus. Epilepsy Res 1990;6:215–20.
- [34] Zhang ZH, Zuo QH, Wu XR. Effects of lipid peroxidation on GABA uptake and release in iron-induced seizures. Chin Med J 1989;102:24–7.
- [35] Mori A. Reactive oxygen species and mechanism of induction of seizure by guanidino compounds. In: Packer L, Hiramatsu M, Yoshikawa T, editors. Free radicals in brain physiology and disorders. San Diego: Academic Press; 1996. p. 3–15.
- [36] Lusic I, Pintaric I, Hozo I, Boic L, Capkun V. Serum prolactin levels after seizure and syncopal attacks. Seizure 1999;8:218–22.
- [37] Vukmir RB. Does serum prolactin indicate the presence of seizure in the emergency department patient? J Neurol 2004;251: 736–9.
- [38] Shukla G, Bhatia M, Vivekanandhan S, Gupta N, Tripathi M, Srivastava A, et al. Serum prolactin levels for differentiation of nonepileptic versus true seizures: limited utility. Epilepsy Behav 2004;5: 517–21.
- [39] Alving J. Serum prolactin levels are elevated also after pseudoepileptic seizures. Seizure 1998;7:85–9.
- [40] Anzola GP. Predictivity of plasma prolactin levels in differentiating epilepsy from pseudoseizures: a prospective study. Epilepsia 1993;34:144–8.
- [41] Jennett B, Vande Sande J. EEG prediction of post-traumatic epilepsy. Epilepsia 1975;16:251–6.

- [42] Heikkinen ER, Ronty HS, Tolonen U, Pyhtinen J. Development of posttraumatic epilepsy. Stereotact Funct Neurosurg 1990; 54–55:25–33.
- [43] Angeleri F, Majkowski J, Cacchio G, et al. Posttraumatic epilepsy risk factors: one-year prospective study after head injury. Epilepsia 1999;40:1222–30.
- [44] Kumar R, et al. Magnetization transfer MR imaging in patients with posttraumatic epilepsy. Am J Neuroradiol 2003;23:218–24.
- [45] Mittl Jr RL, Grossman RI, Hiehle JF, et al. Prevalence of MR evidence of diffuse axonal injury in patients with mild head injury and normal head CT findings. Am J Neuroradiol 1994;15:1583–9.
- [46] Temkin NR, Dikmen SS, Anderson GD. Valproate therapy for prevention of posttraumatic seizures: a randomized trial. J Neurosurg 1999;91:593–600.
- [47] Watson GB, Lanthorn TH. Phenytoin delays ischemic depolarization, but cannot block its long-term consequences, in the rat hippocampal slice. Neuropharmacology 1995;34:553–8.
- [48] Bac P, Maurois P, Dupont C, Pages N, Stables JP, Gressens P, et al. Magnesium deficiency-dependent audiogenic seizures (MDDASs) in adult mice: a nutritional model for discriminatory screening of anticonvulsant drugs and original assessment of neuroprotection properties. J Neurosci 1998;18:4363–73.
- [49] Schierhout G, Roberts I. Antiepileptic drugs for preventing seizures following acute traumatic brain injury, Cochrane review. In: Update software, Issue 3. Oxford: The Cochrane Library; 2001.
- [50] Schierhout G, Roberts I. Prophylactic antiepileptic agents after head injury: a systematic review. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1998;64:108–12.
- [51] Brain Injury Special Interest Group. American Academy of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation. Practice parameter: antiepileptic drug treatment of posttraumatic seizures. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 1998;79:594–7.
- [52] Bullock R, Chesnut RM, Clifton G, Ghajar J, Marion DW, Narayan RK, et al. Guidelines for the management of severe head injury. Brain Trauma Foundation. Eur J Emerg Med 1996;3:109–27.
- [53] Berlant J, Van Kammen DP. Open label topiramate as primary or adjunctive therapy in chronic civilian posttraumatic stress disorder: a preliminary report. J Clin Psychiatry 2002;63(1):15–20.
- [54] Hammer MB, Brodrick PS, Labbate LA. Gabapentin in PTSD: a retrospective clinical series of adjunctive-therapy. Ann Clin Psychiatry 2001;13:141–6.
- [55] Hertzberg MA, Butterfield MI, Feldman ME, et al. A preliminary study of lamotrigine for the treatment of posttraumatic stress disorder. Biol Psychiatry 1999;5:1226–9.

- [56] Rapport II RL, Penry JK. A survey of attitudes towards the pharmacological prophylaxis of post-traumatic epilepsy. J Neurosurg 1973;38:159–66.
- [57] Dikmen SS, Temkin NR, et al. A randomized double blind study of phenytoin for the prevention of posttraumatic seizures. N Eng J Med 1990;323:497–502.
- [58] Chadwick D. Seizures and epilepsy after traumatic brain injury. Lancet 2000;355:334–5.
- [59] Anderson G, Lin Y, Temkin N, et al. Incidence of intravenous site reactions in neurotrauma patients receiving valproate or phenytoin. Ann Pharmacother 2000;34:697–702.
- [60] Rapp R, Norton J, Young B, Tibbs P. Cutaneous reactions in headinjured patients receiving phenytoin for seizure prophylaxis. Neurosurgery 1983;13:272–5.
- [61] Gabl M, Kostron H. Diphenylhydantoin induced granulocytopenia following seizure prophylaxis after a depressed skull fracture. Zentralbl Neurochir 1986;47:339–41.
- [62] Sandyk R. Transient hemiparesis caused by phenytoin toxicity: a case report. S Afr Med J 1983;64:493.
- [63] Guerra I, Fawcett W, Redmon A, et al. Permanent intrinsic B cell immunodeficiency caused by phenytoin hypersensitivity. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1986;77:603–7.
- [64] Haltiner AM, Temkin NR, et al. The impact of posttraumatic seizures one year neuropsychological and psychological outcome after head injury. J Int Neurosis Soc 1996;2:494–504.
- [65] Marks DA, Kim J, Spencer DD, Spencer SS. Seizure localization and pathology following head injury in patients with uncontrolled epilepsy. Neurology 1995;45:2051–7.
- [66] Kazemi NJ, So EL, Mosewich RK, O'Brien TJ, Cascino GD, Trenerry MR, et al. Resection of frontal encephalomalacias for intractable epilepsy: outcome and prognostic factors. Epilepsia 1997;38: 670–7.
- [67] Marwitz JH, Cifu DX, et al. A multicenter analysis of rehospitalisations five years after brain injury. J Head Trauma Rehabil 2001;16:307–17.
- [68] Smith K, Goulding P, Wilderman D, et al. Neurobehavioral effects of phenytoin and carbamazepine in patients recovering from brain trauma: a comparative study. Arch Neurol 1994;51:653– 60.
- [69] Temkin NR, Dikman SS, Winn HR. Posttraumatic seizures. Neurosurg Clin North Am 1991;2:425–35.
- [70] Camfield PR. Recurrent seizures in the developing brain are not harmful. Epilepsia 1997;38:735–7.